

# The Pennsylvania System of School Assessment

**English Language Arts Item and Scoring Sampler** 



2024-2025 Grade 3

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| INFORMATION ABOUT ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS   | 3  |
|---|----|
| Introduction  | 3  |
| General Introduction  | 3  |
| Pennsylvania Core Standards (PCS)   | 3  |
| What Is Included  | 3  |
| Purpose and Uses  | 4  |
| Item Format and Scoring Guidelines  | 4  |
| Testing Time and Mode of Testing Delivery for the PCS-Based PSSA                | 5  |
| English Language Arts   | 5  |
| Item and Scoring Sampler Format   | 6  |
| General Description of Scoring Guidelines for Reading Short-Answer Items        | 8  |
| ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS GRADE 3   | 9  |
| English Language Arts Test Directions for Reading Passages and Items            | 9  |
| Passage 1   | 11 |
| Multiple-Choice Item  | 14 |
| Evidence-Based Selected-Response Item   | 16 |
| Multiple-Choice Items   | 18 |
| Short-Answer Item   | 22 |
| Short-Answer Scoring Guidelines   | 23 |
| English Language Arts Test Directions for Conventions of Standard English Items | 28 |
| Conventions of Standard English Multiple-Choice Questions                       |    |
| English Language Arts—Sample Item Summary Data                                  | 33 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS  | 34 |

#### INFORMATION ABOUT ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS

#### Introduction

#### **General Introduction**

The Pennsylvania Department of Education (PDE) provides districts and schools with tools to assist in delivering focused instructional programs aligned with the Pennsylvania Core Standards (PCS). These tools include Academic Standards, Assessment Anchors and Eligible Content (AAEC) documents, assessment handbooks, and content-based Item and Scoring Samplers. This Item and Scoring Sampler is a useful tool for Pennsylvania educators in preparing local instructional programs by providing samples of test item types and scored student responses. The Item and Scoring Sampler is not designed to be used as a pretest, a curriculum, or any other benchmark for operational testing.

This Item and Scoring Sampler is available in Braille format. For more information regarding Braille, call (717) 901-2238.

#### Pennsylvania Core Standards (PCS)

This Item and Scoring Sampler contains examples of test questions designed to assess the Pennsylvania Assessment Anchors and Eligible Content aligned to the PCS. The Mathematics, Reading, and Writing PSSA transitioned to PCS-based operational Mathematics and English Language Arts assessments starting with the spring 2015 PSSA administration.

The PCS-aligned Assessment Anchors and Eligible Content documents are posted on this portal:

 www.education.pa.gov [Hover over "Data and Reporting," select "Assessment and Accountability," and select "PSSA - PA System of School Assessment." Then select "Assessment Anchors/Eligible Content" on the right side of the screen.]

#### What Is Included

This Item and Scoring Sampler contains stimulus reading passages with test questions, Conventions of Standard English questions, and a short-answer (SA) question that have been written to align to the Assessment Anchors, which are based on the PCS. The sample test questions model the types of items that may appear on an operational PSSA. Each sample test question has been through a rigorous review process to ensure alignment with the Assessment Anchors prior to being piloted in an embedded field test within a PSSA assessment and then used operationally on a PSSA assessment. Answer keys, scoring guidelines, and any related stimulus material are also included. Additionally, sample student responses are provided with the open-ended item to demonstrate the range of responses that students provided in response to these items.

#### **Purpose and Uses**

The items in this Item and Scoring Sampler may be used<sup>1</sup> as examples for creating assessment items at the classroom level. Classroom teachers may find it beneficial to have students respond to the short-answer question in this Item and Scoring Sampler. Educators may then use the Item and Scoring Sampler as a guide to score the responses either independently or together with colleagues within a school or district.

#### **Item Format and Scoring Guidelines**

**Multiple Choice:** Each of this type of test question has four answer choices. Some MC test questions are based on a stimulus reading passage, while Conventions of Standard English MC test questions are independent of a passage. Each correct response to an MC test question is worth one point.

**Evidence-Based Selected-Response:** Each two-part EBSR question is designed to elicit an evidence-based response from a student who has read either a literature or an informational text passage. In Part One, which is similar to an MC question, the student analyzes a passage and chooses the best answer from four answer choices. In Part Two, the student utilizes evidence from the passage to select one or more answers based on the response to Part One. Part Two is different from an MC question in that there may be more than one correct answer. Each EBSR test question is worth either two or three points, and students can receive points for providing a correct response to Part One and/or for providing one or more correct responses in Part Two.

**Short Answer**: Each test question of this type includes a short response space in which the student composes an answer based on the passage the student has read. An SA test question may include multiple tasks, and the student may be asked to provide a brief explanation. The SA test question is scored using an item-specific scoring guideline based on a 0–3-point scoring guideline. In this Item and Scoring Sampler, every item-specific scoring guideline is combined with examples of student responses representing each score point to form a practical item-specific scoring guideline. This Item and Scoring Sampler also includes the *General Description of Scoring Guidelines for Short-Answer Items* used to develop the item-specific guidelines.

**Reading Non-score Considerations:** For SA items, responses can be designated as non-scorable (NS). While every effort is made to score each student response, a response may receive an NS designation if it falls into one of five categories:

**Blank** – Blank, entirely erased, entirely crossed out, or consists entirely of whitespace

**Refusal** – Refusal to respond to the task

Off Task – Makes no reference to the item or passage but is not an intentional refusal

**Foreign Language** – Written entirely in a language other than English

**Illegible** – Illegible or incoherent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The permission to copy and/or use these materials does not extend to commercial purposes.

### Testing Time and Mode of Testing Delivery for the PCS-Based PSSA

The PSSA is delivered in a traditional paper-and-pencil format as well as in an online format. The estimated time to respond to a test question is the same for both methods of test delivery. The estimated response time for each item type is listed below.

Multiple Choice: 1.5 minutes

• Evidenced-Based Selected-Response: 3 to 5 minutes

• Short Answer: 5 minutes

During an official test administration, students are given as much additional time as is necessary to complete the test questions.

#### **English Language Arts**

This English Language Arts Item and Scoring Sampler is composed of a passage, 4 passage-based MC questions, 1 EBSR question, 1 SA question, and 4 Conventions of Standard English MC questions.

Each question is accompanied by a table that contains the Assessment Anchor and Eligible Content coding, answer key(s), depth of knowledge, and testing data. Each question is followed by a brief analysis or rationale. The SA question is displayed with an item-specific scoring guideline or mode-specific scoring guideline and examples of student responses with annotations at each scoring level.

The PCS-based PSSA may be administered in paper-and-pencil format or online. As a result, this sampler includes samples of SA question responses in both formats. A sample online response is noted by the symbol ...

## **Item and Scoring Sampler Format**

This Item and Scoring Sampler includes the test directions and scoring guidelines that appeared in previous PSSA English Language Arts assessments. Each MC item is followed by a table that includes the item alignment, the answer key, the depth of knowledge (DOK) level, the percentage<sup>2</sup> of students who chose each answer option, and a brief answer-option analysis or rationale. The EBSR item is followed by a table that includes the item alignment, the answer key to Part One of the item, the answer key to Part Two of the item, the DOK level, the mean student score, and a brief answer-option analysis for each part of the item. The SA item is followed by a table that includes the item alignment, the DOK level, and the mean student score. Additionally, the included item-specific scoring guideline is combined with sample student responses representing each score point to form a practical item-specific scoring guideline. The student responses in this Item and Scoring Sampler are actual student responses; however, the handwriting has been changed to protect the students' identities and to make the Item and Scoring Sampler accessible to as many people as possible.

#### **Example Multiple-Choice Item Information Table**

| Category           | Item-Specific Information                    |
|--------------------|--|
| Alignment          | Assigned AAEC                                |
| Answer Key         | Correct Answer                               |
| Depth of Knowledge | Assigned DOK                                 |
| p-value A          | Percentage of students who selected option A |
| p-value B          | Percentage of students who selected option B |
| p-value C          | Percentage of students who selected option C |
| p-value D          | Percentage of students who selected option D |
| Option Annotations | Brief answer-option analysis or rationale    |

#### **Example Evidence-Based Selected-Response Item Information Table**

| Category             | Item-Specific Information                 |  |  |
|----------------------|---|--|--|
| Alignment            | Assigned AAEC                             |  |  |
| Answer Key: Part One | Correct Answer                            |  |  |
| Answer Key: Part Two | Correct Answer                            |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge   | Assigned DOK                              |  |  |
| Mean Score           | Average Score                             |  |  |
| Option Annotations   | Brief answer-option analysis or rationale |  |  |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All *p*-value percentages listed in the item information tables have been rounded.

# **Example Short Answer Item Information Table**

| Category           | Item-Specific Information |  |  |
|--------------------|---------------------------|--|--|
| Alignment          | Assigned AAEC             |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge | Assigned DOK              |  |  |
| Mean Score         | Average Score             |  |  |

# General Description of Scoring Guidelines for Reading Short-Answer Items

#### 3 Points

- The response provides a complete answer to the task (e.g., a statement that offers a correct answer as well as text-based support).
- The response provides specific, appropriate, and accurate details (e.g., naming, describing, explaining, or comparing) or examples.

#### 2 Points

- The response provides a partial answer to the task (e.g., indicates some awareness of the task and at least one text-based detail).
- The response attempts to provide sufficient, appropriate details (e.g., naming, describing, explaining, or comparing) or examples; may contain minor inaccuracies.

#### 1 Point

- The response provides an incomplete answer to the task (e.g., indicating either a misunderstanding of the task or no text-based details).
- The response provides insufficient or inappropriate details or examples that have a major effect on accuracy.
- The response consists entirely of relevant copied text.

#### 0 Points

- The response provides insufficient material for scoring.
- The response is inaccurate in all aspects.

# **English Language Arts Test Directions for Reading Passages and Items**

#### **Directions**

On the following pages are the Reading passage and questions.

#### **Directions for Multiple-Choice Questions:**

Some questions will ask you to select an answer from among four choices.

For the multiple-choice questions:

- First, read the passage carefully.
- Read each question and choose the best answer.
- Only one of the answers provided is correct.
- You may look back at the passage to help you answer the question.
- Record your choice in the answer booklet.

#### **Directions for Evidence-Based Selected-Response Questions:**

Some questions will have two parts and will ask you to select one or more answers in each part.

For the evidence-based selected-response questions:

- Read Part One of the question and choose the best answer.
- You may look back at the passage to help you answer Part One of the question.
- Record your answer to Part One in the answer booklet.
- Only one of the answers provided in Part One is correct.
- Then, read Part Two of the question and choose the evidence to support your answer in Part One. If Part Two tells you to select two answers, be sure to select two answers.
- You may look back at the passage to help you answer Part Two of the question.
- Record your answer or answers to Part Two in the answer booklet.

#### **Directions for Short-Answer Questions:**

Some questions will require you to write your response.

For the short-answer questions:

- Be sure to read each short-answer question carefully.
- You cannot receive the highest score for a short-answer question without completing all the tasks in the question.
- If the question asks you to do multiple tasks, be sure to complete all tasks.
- You may look back at the passage to help you answer the question.
- Write your response in the appropriate space in the booklet. If you use scratch paper to write your draft, be sure to transfer your final response to the booklet.

## Passage 1

Read the following passage about a toothpick artist. Then answer questions 1 through 6.

Stan Munro has made a career out of something he learned in elementary school.

# **Building a World with Toothpicks**

by Linda Haas Manley



Could something made of toothpicks hold up your desk?

"Yes, indeed!" says Stan Munro. Stan is a "toothpick engineer." His job is to build structures out of toothpicks. Stan was first inspired to build things out of toothpicks after a teacher challenged Stan's class to build a toothpick structure that would hold an egg.

"Mine held my desk, and everyone cheered," says Stan.

Stan has been creating buildings out of toothpicks ever since. In fact, he created a whole city. Toothpick City: History of Skyscrapers is currently on display at Ripley's Believe It or Not! in Baltimore, Maryland. The exhibit contains more than 50 famous structures from around the world, and they are all made out of toothpicks. The only materials Stan uses are toothpicks and glue.

After he finished Toothpick City I, Stan built Toothpick City II: Temples and Towers. And then he built Toothpick World. His model of the skyscraper Burj Khalifa, a part of Toothpick World, is in *Guinness World Records 2015* for the Tallest Toothpick Sculpture. Burj Khalifa is in Dubai, United Arab Emirates, and it is the world's tallest building. Stan's toothpick version is more than 16 feet tall!

In an interview, Stan talked about math, shoelaces, and Yankee Stadium.

#### Q: What is your real job?

A: This IS my real job. I used to be a reporter, which is a fine <u>profession</u>, but I think this is more fun. I've learned history, art, science, and culture from doing this work. I love this job!

#### Q: What kind of toothpicks do you use?

A: Round, square-centered toothpicks. I never use colored ones.

#### Q: How long does it take to build one of these structures?

A: It varies by size and detail. The Washington Monument was built in one day. Yankee Stadium took a month. The Vatican took two months. The Chrysler Building took six months.

#### Q: Has a tower ever fallen over after you built it?

A: Do we really have to talk about that?

#### Q: Ha ha! What happened?

A: When I built the Taj Mahal for my first city, I dropped the top of it. It sounded like a light bulb shattering when it hit the floor. Now when I move my work, I do it very carefully. Tons of bubble wrap; tuck in your shirt and your shoelaces so you don't trip. One wrong move and it's over. The really big structures are built in pieces to assemble on-site, but still—very, very carefully.

## Q: I understand that your towers are built to scale. In other words, you make the buildings smaller than the actual structures, but all the parts are in the same proportion to their true size. How do you figure this out?

A: There is a bit of math involved to figure out the dimensions of the towers. I use algebra quite a bit.

### Q: In addition to math, do you use any science or engineering in your work?

A: The model for Burj Khalifa was built with a triangle design technology often used in the building of churches. The triangle is considered the strongest architectural structure.

#### Q: What's your favorite building?

A: The next one.

#### Q: Do you have any advice for our readers?

A: If you set out to do something, you should do it—even if it's really hard.

#### Did You Know?

Stan Munro used gallons and gallons of glue to build more than 60 buildings for Toothpick World.

#### **Multiple-Choice Item**

- 1. What is the most likely reason the author includes the example of Stan Munro's toothpick structure holding up a desk?
  - to show that toothpick structures can be beautiful
  - <sup>®</sup> to show that toothpick structures can be tiny
  - © to show that toothpick structures can be dangerous
  - to show that toothpick structures can be strong

| Category           | Item-Specific Information  |
|--------------------|--|
| Alignment          | B-K.1.1.2  |
| Answer Key         | D  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 2  |
| p-value A          | 15%  |
| <i>p</i> -value B  | 10%  |
| p-value C          | 8%   |
| p-value D          | 67% (correct answer)   |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to determine why the author includes a sample of Stan Munro's toothpick structure holding up a desk. Option D is the correct answer since it shows that his construction was very strong. Option A is incorrect; although Munro's structures may be beautiful, there is no evidence to support that this is why he includes the fact about the desk. Option B is incorrect; although some structures may be tiny, Munro's structures are actually quite large. Option C is incorrect; although transporting the structures may be dangerous, there is no evidence that toothpick structures themselves are dangerous. |

### **Evidence-Based Selected-Response Item**

2. This question has two parts. Answer Part One and then answer Part Two.

#### Part One

How did dropping part of a completed structure affect Munro's process?

- Munro chose to use smaller scales for his models.
- ® Munro took extra steps to reduce the chances of breaking his work.
- © Munro increased the strength of his models by using certain designs.
- Munro made changes to the materials he uses for construction.

#### **Part Two**

Which evidence from the passage supports the answer in Part One? Choose **two** answers.

- "Tons of bubble wrap; tuck in your shirt and your shoelaces so you don't trip."
- ® "The really big structures are built in pieces to assemble on-site . . . "
- © "I use algebra quite a bit."
- The triangle is considered the strongest architectural structure.

| Category             | Item-Specific Information  |
|----------------------|--|
| Alignment            | B-K.1.1.3  |
| Answer Key: Part One | В  |
| Answer Key: Part Two | A, B   |
| Depth of Knowledge   | 3  |
| Mean Score           | 1.41   |
| Option Annotations   | The student is asked to determine how dropping part of a completed structure affected Munro's process and to select two pieces of evidence from the passage that support this answer.  Part One: Option B is the correct answer since Munro implemented changes to avoid breaking another one of his structures. Option A is incorrect; although Munro builds his structures to be smaller than the original structures on which they are based, there is no evidence that his dropping part of a completed structure caused him to use smaller scales. Option C is incorrect; although Munro uses a specific design for each structure, there is no evidence that he increased the strength of his models as a result of his dropping part of his buildings. Option D is incorrect; there is no evidence to support the idea that Munro changed the materials he uses in his constructions.  Part Two: Options A and B are the correct answers since they show how Munro instituted changes in his actions to avoid accidents in the future. Option C is incorrect; although Munro does use algebra to create his designs, this option does not show how Munro reduced the chances of breaking his work. Option D |
|                      | is incorrect since it does not support how Munro reduced the chances of breaking his work.   |

17

#### **Multiple-Choice Items**

**3.** Read the sentence from the passage.

I used to be a reporter, which is a fine profession, but I think this is more fun.

What does the word profession mean as used in the passage?

- A career
- B idea
- © sport
- ① talent

| Category           | Item-Specific Information  |
|--------------------|--|
| Alignment          | B-V.4.1.1  |
| Answer Key         | A  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 2  |
| p-value A          | 49% (correct answer)   |
| p-value B          | 15%  |
| p-value C          | 7%   |
| p-value D          | 29%  |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to determine the meaning of a word from the passage. Option A is the correct answer since the word "profession" means "career." The phrase "used to be a reporter" provides context for the correct answer. Options B, C, and D do not convey the meaning of the word "profession." |

**4.** Read the sentences from the passage.

Q: What's your favorite building?

A: The next one.

What does Stan Munro's answer show about him?

- A that he does not like any of his buildings
- ® that he wants to end the interview
- © that he likes creating new buildings
- that he wants a different interview question

| Category           | Item-Specific Information   |
|--------------------|---|
| Alignment          | B-C.3.1.1   |
| Answer Key         | С   |
| Depth of Knowledge | 2   |
| p-value A          | 9%  |
| p-value B          | 9%  |
| p-value C          | 58% (correct answer)  |
| p-value D          | 24%   |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to determine what a given sentence from the passage shows about Munro. Option C is the correct answer since it shows Munro's attitude of being enthusiastic for future projects. Option A is incorrect since Munro states, "I love this job!" Option B is incorrect; there is no textual evidence that Munro wants to end the interview. Option D is incorrect; there is no textual evidence to support that Munro wants a different interview question. |

- **5.** From whose point of view is the passage written?
  - someone who interviewed Stan Munro
  - ® someone who works for Stan Munro
  - © Stan Munro's teacher
  - Stan Munro

| Category           | Item-Specific Information   |
|--------------------|---|
| Alignment          | B-C.2.1.1   |
| Answer Key         | A   |
| Depth of Knowledge | 2   |
| p-value A          | 49% (correct answer)  |
| p-value B          | 14%   |
| <i>p</i> -value C  | 10%   |
| p-value D          | 27%   |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to determine the point of view used in the passage. Option A is the correct answer since the passage is an interview; questions from an interviewer and answers from Munro are provided. Option B is incorrect since there is no evidence that the interviewer works for Munro. Option C is incorrect; although Munro's teacher is mentioned in the passage, the interviewer is not Munro's teacher. Option D is incorrect; the passage is an interview in which someone asks questions and then Munro answers them. |

# THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.

#### **Short-Answer Item**

| swer. |  |  |  |
|-------|--|--|--|
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |
|       |  |  |  |

After you have finished your work, close this booklet so your teacher will know you are finished.



#### **Short-Answer Scoring Guidelines**

#### #6 Item Information

| Category           | Item-Specific Information |  |  |
|--------------------|---------------------------|--|--|
| Alignment          | B-K.1.1.3                 |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 3                         |  |  |
| Mean Score         | 1.22                      |  |  |

#### **Assessment Anchor:**

E03.B-K.1—Key Ideas and Details

#### **Specific Assessment Anchor Descriptor addressed by this item:**

**E03.B-K.1.1.3**—Describe the relationship between a series of historical events, scientific ideas or concepts, or steps in technical procedures in a text, using language that pertains to time, sequence, and cause/effect.

#### **Item-Specific Scoring Guideline**

| Score | Description   |
|-------|---|
| 3     | The response is a clear, complete, and accurate answer to what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure. The response includes relevant and specific evidence from the passage.  |
| 2     | The response is a partial answer to what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure. The response includes limited evidence from the passage and may include inaccuracies.   |
| 1     | The response is a minimal answer to what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure. The response includes little or no evidence from the passage and may include inaccuracies.  OR  The response relates minimally to the task. |
| 0     | The response is totally incorrect or irrelevant or contains insufficient information to demonstrate comprehension.  |

#### STUDENT RESPONSE

Computer Response Score: 3 points

**6.** Based on the passage, what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure? Use information from the passage to support your answer.

I thinck that two thing's That shud de considered well macking toothpick's bilding's you shued allwes do the math dfore you start and you shued fined out haw you are going to move it wene you are finisde. in the story it sey's thar is adit of math involved to figure out the dimension's of the towers. I use algeebra quit a dit. And the secint wun seys When I built the TaJ Mahal for my ferst city I dropped the top of it. It sounded like a ligh bulb Shattering when it het the floor. now When I move my Work I do it very cafly.

The response is a clear, complete, and accurate answer of what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure (I thinck that two thing's . . . you shued allwes do the math dfore you start and you shued fined out haw you are going to move it wene you are finisde) and includes relevant and specific information from the passage (in the story it sey's thar is adit of math. . . . I use algebra quit a dit . . . When I built the TaJ Mahal for my ferst city I dropped . . . when I move my Work I do it very cafly [carefully].).

#### STUDENT RESPONSE

**Response Score: 2 points** 

**6.** Based on the passage, what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure? Use information from the passage to support your answer.

| Things that should be considerd when          |
|---|
|   |
| designing a tooth pick structures are you     |
| should always sketch an Idea befor you do it. |
| you should also be very careful wile making   |
| it and moving itso it doesn't brake. Aways    |
| make sure to put anuff glue so it Sticks but  |
| don't put too munch glue.                     |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |

The response is a partial answer of what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure (*sketch an idea befor. . . . be very careful wile making it and moving itso it doesn't brake. . . . to put anuff glue*). The response includes limited information from the passage (*be very careful wile making it and moving itso*) and may include inaccuracies.

#### STUDENT RESPONSE

- Computer Response Score: 1 point
- **6.** Based on the passage, what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure? Use information from the passage to support your answer.

To never give uP even if It's really hard. To Keep learning.

The response is a minimal answer of what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure (*To never give uP . . . To Keep learning.*). The response includes little information from the passage (*even if It's really hard*) and may include inaccuracies.

#### STUDENT RESPONSE

**Response Score: 0 points** 

**6.** Based on the passage, what should be considered when designing a toothpick structure? Use information from the passage to support your answer.

| what will i do with a toothpick i will |
|--|
| use in for my tooth.                   |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |
|  |

The response is totally irrelevant (*what will i do with a toothpick i will use in for my tooth*) and contains insufficient information to demonstrate comprehension.

# **English Language Arts Test Directions for Conventions of Standard English Items**

#### **Directions:**

On the following pages are the Conventions of Standard English questions.

#### **Directions for Multiple-Choice Questions:**

Each question will ask you to select an answer from among four choices.

For the multiple-choice questions:

- Read each question and choose the best answer.
- Only one of the answers provided is correct.
- Record your choice in the answer booklet.

#### **Conventions of Standard English Multiple-Choice Questions**

#### 7. Read the sentence.

The horse ran across the field.

Which revision of the sentence uses the **most** descriptive details?

- The pretty horse went across the large field.
- The horse quickly moved farther away in the field.
- © The beautiful brown horse raced across the grassy field.
- The horse jogged quickly to a different part of the big field.

| Category           | Item-Specific Information   |  |  |  |
|--------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Alignment          | D.2.1.1   |  |  |  |
| Answer Key         | С   |  |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 2   |  |  |  |
| p-value A          | 17%   |  |  |  |
| p-value B          | 17%   |  |  |  |
| p-value C          | 52% (correct answer)  |  |  |  |
| p-value D          | 14%   |  |  |  |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to identify the revision of the sentence that uses the most descriptive details. Option C is the correct answer since the words "beautiful," "brown," "raced," and "grassy" provide descriptive details that evoke visual imagery for the reader. Option A is incorrect since the words "pretty" and "went" are not as descriptive as the words used in the key. Option B is incorrect since the words "moved farther away" are not as descriptive as the words used in the key. Option D is incorrect since the words "jogged quickly" are not as descriptive as the words used in the key. |  |  |  |

8. Read the sentence.

Yesterday, Tony went to the bakery and bought two \_\_\_\_\_ of bread.

Which word correctly completes the sentence?

- A loafs
- B loafes
- © loavs
- loaves

| Category           | Item-Specific Information   |  |  |  |
|--------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Alignment          | D.1.1.2   |  |  |  |
| Answer Key         | D   |  |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 3   |  |  |  |
| p-value A          | 43%   |  |  |  |
| p-value B          | 11%   |  |  |  |
| p-value C          | 9%  |  |  |  |
| p-value D          | 37% (correct answer)  |  |  |  |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to identify the word that uses the correct spelling rule to pluralize the word "loaf." Option D is the correct answer since it applies the rule of changing the "f" in nouns ending in "f" to "ves" to create the plural form. Options A, B, and C are incorrect since they incorrectly use the spelling rule to create the plural form. |  |  |  |

#### 9. Read the sentences.

Tess helped her mom plant flowers.

The flowers looked beautiful in the garden.

Choose the **best** way to write the sentences as a complex sentence without changing the meaning.

- Tess helped her mom plant flowers, which looked beautiful in the garden.
- ® Since Tess helped her mom plant flowers, they looked beautiful in the garden.
- © When the flowers in the garden looked beautiful, Tess helped her mom plant them.
- Although the flowers looked beautiful in the garden, Tess helped her mom plant them.

| Category           | Item-Specific Information   |  |  |  |  |
|--------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Alignment          | D.1.1.9   |  |  |  |  |
| Answer Key         | A   |  |  |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 3   |  |  |  |  |
| p-value A          | 69% (correct answer)  |  |  |  |  |
| p-value B          | 19%   |  |  |  |  |
| p-value C          | 5%  |  |  |  |  |
| p-value D          | 7%  |  |  |  |  |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to identify the best way to write the given sentences as a complex sentence without changing the original meaning. Option A is the correct answer since it creates a complex sentence without changing the meaning of the two original sentences. Options B and C are incorrect; the use of the words "since" and "when" indicate a conditional relationship that is not present in the original sentences. Option D is incorrect; the word "although" indicates an oppositional relationship that is not present in the original sentences. |  |  |  |  |

- 10. Which underlined word is spelled incorrectly?
  - A l visit my grandpa whenever I can.
  - <sup>®</sup> It was finally time to decorate the cake.
  - © The cat leeped over the tall wooden fence.
  - <sup>®</sup> My brother and I enjoy going on <u>adventures</u> together.

| Category           | Item-Specific Information   |  |  |  |  |
|--------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Alignment          | D.1.2.5   |  |  |  |  |
| Answer Key         | С   |  |  |  |  |
| Depth of Knowledge | 2   |  |  |  |  |
| p-value A          | 18%   |  |  |  |  |
| p-value B          | 18%   |  |  |  |  |
| p-value C          | 48% (correct answer)  |  |  |  |  |
| p-value D          | 16%   |  |  |  |  |
| Option Annotations | The student is asked to identify the underlined word in given sentences that is spelled incorrectly. Option C is the correct answer since "leeped" should be spelled as "leaped." Options A, B, and D are incorrect since they are spelled correctly. |  |  |  |  |

# **English Language Arts—Sample Item Summary Data**

#### **Multiple-Choice and Evidence-Based Selected-Response Questions**

An asterisk (\*) indicates the key.

| Sample<br>Number | Alignment | Answer<br>Key                 | Depth of<br>Knowledge | <i>p</i> -value<br>A | <i>p</i> -value<br>B | <i>p</i> -value<br>C | <i>p</i> -value<br>D |
|------------------|-----------|-------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| 1                | B-K.1.1.2 | D                             | 2                     | 15%                  | 10%                  | 8%                   | 67%*                 |
| 2                | B-K.1.1.3 | Part One: B<br>Part Two: A, B | 3                     | Mean Score: 1.41     |                      |                      |                      |
| 3                | B-V.4.1.1 | А                             | 2                     | 49%*                 | 15%                  | 7%                   | 29%                  |
| 4                | B-C.3.1.1 | С                             | 2                     | 9%                   | 9%                   | 58%*                 | 24%                  |
| 5                | B-C.2.1.1 | А                             | 2                     | 49%*                 | 14%                  | 10%                  | 27%                  |
| 7                | D.2.1.1   | С                             | 2                     | 17%                  | 17%                  | 52%*                 | 14%                  |
| 8                | D.1.1.2   | D                             | 3                     | 43%                  | 11%                  | 9%                   | 37%*                 |
| 9                | D.1.1.9   | Α                             | 3                     | 69%*                 | 19%                  | 5%                   | 7%                   |
| 10               | D.1.2.5   | С                             | 2                     | 18%                  | 18%                  | 48%*                 | 16%                  |

#### **Short-Answer Question**

| Sample<br>Number | Alignment | Points | Depth of<br>Knowledge | Mean Score |
|------------------|-----------|--------|-----------------------|------------|
| 6                | B-K.1.1.3 | 3      | 3                     | 1.22       |

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

"Building a World with Toothpicks" by Linda Haas Manley from *Highlights for Children*, Oct 2015. Copyright © Highlights for Children, Inc., Columbus, Ohio. All rights reserved.

# THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.

# PSSA Grade 3 English Language Arts Item and Scoring Sampler

Copyright © 2024 by the Pennsylvania Department of Education. The materials contained in this publication may be duplicated by Pennsylvania educators for local classroom use. This permission does not extend to the duplication of materials for commercial use.